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- PART 1, THE SITE.

{A) LOCATION:

gituated in Parish of Otford, Kent, east of remains of
Archiepiscopal Palace, National Grid reference 51/529591. The
gpring issues from the ground from below the Lower Chalk at
approximately the point where the Upper Gault emerges. Similar
springs issue at Moat Cottage, Colet's Well and New Barn Cottage
all in the same parish.

(B)  KECORDED HISTORY:

821/822 A,D, Possible early references in Charters of 821/822
granted to Archbishop Wulfred by Kin§ of Mercia conveying lands east
efin

of the Darent one boundary being d ed as "on the south the hollow
well or spring (se hole welle)......The hollow well may be the

deep sunk and now deep-walled spring, perhaps gacred, later and
to-day known as Becket's Well close to Otford "Falace,""

{Arch,Cant. Vole XLIII, p 121 E.G.Box Notes on the History of

Saxon Otford.) .

Dr. Gordon Ward, F.S.4, doesnot support the identification
of "se hole welle" with Becket's Well, but suggests it was a spring
at Childsbridge.

(Arch.Cants Vole XLI. p 9 "The making of the Great Park ai
Otford.")

1440~-1441, [Extract from Otford Ministers' Accounts,
Mich. 19 Henry VI t0 Michs 20. Henry V.

"To a cerpenter for making 2 gutters to bring water from
the pool of the garden and the woote, and for working on and laying
another gutter beyond the water course and coming from the fountain
(*fons") of St.Thomas to the old garden ; 12d.

"To a carpenter for covering a gutier with ti@ber and
eresting its 6d.

"To 2 masons for 3 days placing and laying and working
anew the stone wall of the fountain of St.Thomas broken for the
pipe of the water conduit therej 38

"Po 5§ labourers for 10 days digging the soil between the
said fountain and the moote to %8¥ in the leaden pipe of the said
conduit; 168.8d, taking each daily 44"
(Hesketh transcript of Lawbeth MSS No.B868)

C 1540, Survey of the Manor of Otford.

his containg a reference to "divers springs and the
head thereof ", but it is doubtful if this refers 1o Becket's VWell
or other springse

{The survey is given in full in vWard Note Books, Otford,
No.2, fe 4 et segg. and most of it 1s printed in D.G.Elcer's




,  RECORDED HISTORY (CONT,) 2.

"Otford Past and Present"., pp 3 -~ 6. Both these give the
date 1547, but there is enough evidence to assign the datec1540)

1570, / Lembarde writes in "A Perambulation of Kent¥:-
P L TR T 1@n§ gince fancied s.es. that while Thomas
Becket lay 4t the olde houge at Otford +.. and sawe that it
wanted a fif spring to waler it, that he strake his staffe
into the drie gfound(in a place thereof now called Sainect
?hﬁmaﬁ'%@l%%,aﬁﬁ that imwmediately the s ame water appeared,
which rhnodng plentifully, serveth the ofiices of thd new house
ti11ll this present day.". : : 1%

1573, '<ﬂ | "The conduyte house or well conteyning in lenght
XXXVY oote and in breadith XIX fote to be taken downe and
newe ;sett upp will coste XXX (pounds) The Pypes conveyinge
the wﬁter‘gggm thence to th' offyces and small Sestrens
(Cistprns) [to be amended will coste XIII (pounds).”

(Frow Survey made in 1573 for Sir Henry Sydney when he applied
to Qéﬁliza{eth for the Palace. Arch.Cants Vol .XXXI p418;§

LiAGs f? | Harris ~History of Kent = p 229/230, repeats the
’ 1@é§nﬁban gsays, "and which is indeed still a good Spring,

beling a shallow Well built of Stone and about Twenty foot
%&ﬂaf‘@ta‘ﬁ:“» . :

1778,/ / Hasted merely repeats the Becket legend.

1820, i Gentleman's Magazine 1820 part 1 o 489 - 491 -

"ees Plses a spring farmeggiﬂto a baﬁhyabaut’agpfeet long.

Here the invallided devotee bathed, transferring the invigorating

power of the water to the merit of its patron saint, Thomas

of Caﬁ,ﬁrburyg for this is "Becket's Well"s.. The stream flows

from 148 hesd through the outer court of the palace, formerly

suppl ,ﬂg the offices with water collected in capacious

cisterns, in the same manner as may be seen at this day in

the ancient and curious kitchen at Hever Castle ir this county..."

1885, {(ecireca) | Dr.John Hunt, Vicar of Otford, writes in "Qld
Utford", after repeating the legend about Becket:- "It is an
oblong about twenty feet long and ten feet wide. Antiquaries
conjecture it to have been a2 Homan bath, and as pieces of Roman
tiles are found in the adjoining field, 1t is held for certain
that Ot{ord was a Roman settlement.... The Saint is said to

have uﬁlﬁ'\ﬁ the well ag a Datheses"
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1887,
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1924,

193l.
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RECORDED HISTORY (CONT) | 3

Kelly's Directory, 1887 Extractsi-

fThere is a spring of water in the casile grounds
which flows into a chamber upwards of 30 feet in length by about
fifteen in breadth, known as St.Thomas A'Becket's well; this
thamber hag been thoroughy restored and the surrounding ground
tastefully laid out by Richard Russell Esq; (Mr Richard Russell,
farmer, lived at Castle Farm and owned the Wells)

Kelly's Directory 1895: ' |
%"This chamber has been thoroughly restoresl and
the surrounding ground tastefully laid out by Mr.Harry Wellband Esq..
{Mr Wellband was a later occupier of Castle Faru.
This reference is suspbiously similar to the
preceeding extract.)

Hesketh, Hajor C. writes in "Otford" after repeating
the legentl"The spot became known as the well of St.Thomas.
Heally a Homan bath, and which can be seen between the rallway
station and the church, Its water was inevitably regerted
medicinal, a superstition that lingered on even to 1320, when a
cure of rheumatism was alleged. Nothing is heard of this now."

Dorothy Gardiner in Companion into Kent (1934)
ghotes Hesketh without mentioning his name 3“in schdarly
opinion this is no other than a Roman bath.," When she remarks
+hat there does not seem to be anything Roman about the
masonry Be replies, "No more there isin't, the little round
building upon Otford Mount was made of hewn stone from the bath.
That sportsman old Dicky Russell, Castle Farm, €arried it away."

Gordon Ward, Sevenoaks Essays, p 127 Beckets Vell
wihites that it is no w&il but a bath. He says it was covered
with a roof and perhsps the few beams remeved in 1930 or so
wére the last remains of the conduit house (see 1573 above).

He consludes "It has often been called a Roman well, and there
is good reason to hold that there was a Roman villa in the
vieinity., It is certainly one of the most remarkable relics

of this district and well worth putting into proper repair and
of scheduling as an ancient monument. Also, it merits proper
deseription by an expert on masonry and ancient water supplies ~-
it may well prove to be unique."

Arch.Cant. Vol XLVII p 236/7 Sevenoaks K.A.S. Branch
report confirming it is a fresh water tank adjoining part being
a laundry or bathing place.

Arch, Coent. Vols XLVIII p 233/4 Continuing the above
KeheSe investigation reports "Seems no doubt that stone enclosure
adjoining Becket's Well was refashioned in Tudor times."




{c)

4y
HISTORICAL SUMMARY:

(1) The -aseription of a Roman origin to Becket's
Well itself is without reasonable foundation; the
tradition is hostile to such an ordgin But it is possible,
and not yet disproved, that the springhead may have been
used in Roman times as a water supply for the presumed Roman
building bearby, which latter is evidenced by a strong
field ccatter of Roman brick and tile.

12) Evidence ig against identifying a spring
mentioned in Saxon times (821/2) with Becket's Well.

(3) By tradition the spring originated in the
12¢h century in the time of Archbishop Beckedl {1162/1170)
whose name has since been associated with it., The tradition
is narrated by Lambarde in 1570,

(4) The earliest contemporary evidence of Beckei's
Well is an entry in Otford Ministers' Accounts, 1440+1,
Note the following datai~

{a) The names "fons Sanctli Thomae", probably in English
"at.Thomas's Viell".

(b) The well already had omne stone wglle It probably had
four, because 1f there were no wall on one side the conduit
would presumably have been laid there, without the necessity
of breaking and repairing a walls

(e} “The Archbishop_was Chichel |
£ e 1414~ 14473,
{d) This is the agly cerﬁagﬁ date we hav% of repairs to the

wells

(5) Alterations or repairs were apparently made in
the Fudor period (evidence of west wall of lower chamber).
It is at present impossible to date them with certainty, but

4t is reasonable to assume they took place when the Palace
was undergoing repair or alteration. We know that
rebuilding and alterations took place ini-
¢ 1510 = ¢ 1520 (Archbishop Warham) and substantial repairs
were made in 1541 - 1547 (Henmry VIII)

{6) Fhe Palace became increasingly dilapidated through
the rest of the Tudor period, 1547-1603. By 1573 it was
estimated that £30 would repair "the conduit house or well".
The use of the term "Conduit house" jmplies a roofed bullding.
The dimensions were then stated to be 36 feet by 19 feetls




(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(C) HISTORICAL SUMMARY (CONT)

Some repairs in the period 1603 to 1887 seem
likely, but we have no historical evidence of any until
ﬁusseli‘s time, y

The site was much disturbed in the late
19th centurys- '

(a) HRussell used it as a quarry for the Fox Hunting
Tower on the Mount,

Eb) Russell "laid out" the grounds around it.

¢} Wellband may have done the same.

{d) Hop-anchore were sunk around it.

The ¥Well had a roof over it as late as the
present century but agcording to residents then living
in the viecinity this was merely a flat wooden covering
supported by beams placed horizontally across the Well
walls and was of modern construction =-probably Russell.

Chemical analysis of the Well water declares
it to be good drinking water with no special mediecinal
properties. ( See App. C)

5




PART 2, THE EXCAVATIONS.

{a) INITIATION AND PROGRESS OF WORK:

The e@xcavations were undertaken by the Society
by ?ermissien of the owner, lir,E.D.McDowell,lsI,0truct.E,
- whose expert adviece was also available. The policy as
regards planning the excavation and 1lts procedure was
devised by Lt.Col.G.W.Meates, FSA, in consultation with the
Joint Directors, Messrs. F.Re.J.Pateman and F’%.Harrﬁ30ﬁ,

‘ In the spring of 1951 the site was rapidly
becoming overgrown, the walls were in danger of collapse
and the Well floor was completely silted over end covered
with fallen masonry and rubbish,

Work began under the immediate direction of
Messrse Fe.Redo.Pateman and F.EsHarrisenn and was carried
out exclusively on Sunday mornings.

The féllewing’members took part in the diggingi-

Brown, Es Has ' Harrisson., FeE.
Budd. Dr.F.E. : ﬂsughtaﬁ. DRs Beds
‘Burn. CJW, Ivens, PJR,
aiaﬁkﬁq Rﬁﬁg ?ﬁtemaﬂi FoBeds

Diblee. DuLs Runting. BoeGade
. Tompkinse LeBs

Assistance was also given by Messrs:

vavidges K.C,
¢ Dowalls A
¥e vowalles utﬁg
Me Uowalls
Heynolds. ﬁ;ﬁa
Reynolds. M,
Feynolds. 4
Ruﬂting. Be




, 7
The Excavations. {cont)

{a)‘InEtiatian and progress of work:

1951, May: Photographs taken on 25%h.

1952,

Work of clearance of vefation and silt
commenced on 27th. A
Junes Upper Chamber cleared.
July: Trench No. 1A started.
Burrounding ground cleared and levelled to top
of UpperChamber VWalls. :
Exploratory trenches No. IIIA, IIIB, IVA and Va made.
Augs Trench No.IIA commenced.
August - November work mainly confined to Trenches lo.lA & IIA.
Season ended.

April: Restarted, removed winter's debris, Trench No.
14 developed.

Mays Work continued on 1A and 11A restarted.

Junes Work on 1A and 1lA continued.

Julys In agddition Trench 1lVA restarted.

Augusts - UOrench 1A completed and 1B started.

Trenches 1lA and 1VA continued,
Cets Season ended at beginning of this month.




{1)

| THE EXCAVATIONS (CONT)
(b} DESCRIPTION OF BECKET'S WELL.

Abbrevistions used in texts

Well Chambers W
North wall, ‘ﬁ/g

East Wall, W/ E

South Wall. W/s

West Wall, W/W . or Sluice Wall,
Quter Wplls surrounding Well Chambers
North, SW/N,

Bﬁuth; S?S/S °

Eaat, SW/E. (not yet located)
Lower Chamber: LC,

West Wall, N

South Walls LQ/S.

North Wall. LO/N, :

East Wall, : LC/B. - this refers only to the short

| wall joining LC/N to W/N,.
Trenches numbered with Roman numerals as on Plans T,

Datum points numbered with ordinary numbers as on Plan: DP.

(11) WELL CHAMBER;

Dimensions: W/N 35* long 26" thick,
W/8.35" 16"
WE 13! 26"

W/W 11t 6" 48" approxe
Walls W/N and W/E are bonded together.
Walls W/N and W/S are probably bonded.
Walls W/E and ¥/S do not appear to be bonded.

Hast Walls This has two arched openings faced with stone

16" wide and 121" high i B : igh :
which agr?ng w%ﬁsr %%ews? a@he§§1¥n§§%%lgresgg%aeéggﬁﬁﬁ
spaced; the southern is 2'10" from W/5 and the northern

414" from W/N and carries the greater volume of water which
appears to come from a northerly direction behind W/EB.

North and fouth Wallss

Thepe are small inlets under these walls
permitting spring water to flow into the Well, Most of the
water comes from the south and the largest of these inlets

8




FHE EXCAVATIONS (CONT)
ecket's Wells

De

¥orth and South Walls {cont)

is 6% wide and 10" high in #/S. The varying flow is
indicated by the quantity of silt which collects around
the inlets.

A1l Walls are built of Ragsione but the quarry
or source has not yet been established. There are certain
features about thelr construction which may be of impoblance,
for example there is a straight course in the stones in W/N
at a hdght of 51 2% which can be traced at the north end of
/B and appears again in %/8 at a height of 5' from the Well
f1oor, Both W/N and W/E have larger stones at the bottom
of the walls and smaller stones at higher levels but WS
nag courses of small stones below the larger. The upper
part of W/N, above the straight eourse referred 10, contalns
stones like iron -stone, quite different from the
gravgiling ragstones Dehind %8 3. in T IVA brick has been

OUNGs

FLOOR $

This is made of Chalk blocks but a passage
has been worm through them from the northern inlet in
W/E to the middle of %/W at a point 21" north of the Sluice.
This passage has been repaired in places with bricks. 1In
the northeast corner there is a quadrant of stone which
eppears to have some connection with a stone edge running
west under W/N and broadening into a ledge 22" wide ab W/ e
Fhe floor under the Slulce has been repaired with breck.

WELL CHAMBER SURROUND WALLS:

These have not yet been fully examined or
excavateds SW/N appears in T IIIA and IIIB and has been
1ocated also in line with W/Ee 1t appears to be a
Foundation of varying width up to 2t pnd 18" in depth, built
of irregglar ghaped stone set in mert%g. SW/S is_similar and
appears in 1 IVA and again in T.VAe These two walls
geem to be perallel but whereas gW/N is 13' to 1l4' norih
of W/N there is only about 5' between sW/8 and W/S. SW/E has
not yet been located;ibs existence is only presumeds
JRENCH IVA.; (see section at Appendix A)

This was dug between W/S and 8W/S about 10' %o
18' east of the Sluice Walls I% disclosed the followings-

Wall NHoels Sited at the bottom of the trench it is
probably built on the extended floor of the Well. it
appears to be %the remaine of an earlier wall dismantled down
as far as the first siones above water level, It is backed
by rammed chalk blocks as found behind the north end of the
gluice Walle The North face of Wall I is abomt 4' south of
%/3 (north face) and is very roughly parallel to it.




THE EXCAVATIONS. \CONT
Tb) Description o% Eec&et's Wells 10,

Trench IVA.{cont)

wall Noe 24

Above Wall 1 are the remains of a second wall
inelining at an angle inwerd towards the present W/8. Its
base apparently rests on chalk filling above the 2' space
between Wall 1 and the present W/Se with which it is not
aligned being directed slightly more towards the north west.
It has a good face on the south side, now exposed, which
Hr. Mc Dowall thinks bears indications of having beenbuilt
"overhand". Its northern face cannot be seen properly as
W/8 is built against it and partly rests upon ite.

} The backing for Wall 2 is a mixture of chalk
blocks, pieces of ragstone and other filling. Above the
chalk blocks are mixed earths with broken pieces of
ragstone, tiles, fragments of lealden glass, broken sherds
and plaster without any clear gtratifiction, This filling
extends up to the base of SW/S and is indicated by fillings
Nos. 2 and 3 in the Section shown in Appendix A but it is
far from clear if there is any real distinction between
these fillings. On this filling are layers of flints and
above them top soil.

Wall Noe3s

This is the present ¥/S. In the filling behind
it and sgainst the remains of what appears %o be another pieee
of Wall 2, have been found part of a clay pipe and the base
of a wine bottle dating about the end of the 17th century
(finds No. IV/A/11l and 15 in Appendix B 3) both at a depth
of about 6' from the top of W/S.

(iii) LOWER CHAMBER:

Inside Dimensionss LC/N %&' long 18" thick.
LC/8 v n 4% " (average)
LC/W 3 1B » .

LC/E. 15 = 14 »
Walls LC/W and LC/S are bonded togethers
wall LC/E is not bonded at either end.

s

North Walls

This extends below ground level about ten inches.
It appears to have no connection with SW/N which is still
only partially excavateds It is built without mortar and appesars
to be recent and of poor qualitys.




( THE EXCAVATIONS: (Cont) .
(1ii) LOWER CHAMBER:-

Bast Walls

. This does not extend below ground level its
base being level with the top of W/N. It lies at right
angles to LC/N and there is little doubt it is of recent
origine

West Walls

This appears to be olds, It is built of ragsione
bonded with mortar. The exit for the stream runs through it
and seems to have been altered at some time. The outlet is
formed by heavy stone blocks placed irregularly, above
them are Tudor bricks as though repairing the arch when the
stones were placed in position, This wall is parmllel with
the west face of the Sluice Walle It also forms a right
angle with LC/S but not with LC/N.

South Wall: ,
Fhis has a foundation below ground level of
sbout 16%, It is similar in character to SW/S but it does
not join that wall neither is it in line with it for its
direction is slightly more south east. On its north side
it has a ledge which suggests a lodging for floor joists.

Apparently owing to the steep slope down %o
the stream on this side of the Chamber the wall's foundations
have slipped and split.

In the angle of LC/W and LC/S are some small
tiles, believed to be Tudor and forming a ledge for which
there is no explanation yetes

Water Channels .

The stream emerging from the Sluice runs over
a few largeflat paving stones and loose shingle between
steeply shelving banks for a distance of 20' and leaves the
Well site through the outlet in LC/We On either side of
this channel are signs of some constructional work, in
particular a brick ledge on each side which seems to have some

connection with the brick repair in LC/W but this has yet to
be investigated.



THE EXC&VETIONQ (Cent} 12,
TRENCH 1A.  (See section in Appendix A )

The excavation of this trench has revealed the
north end of the Sluice Walls It is built of large hewn
ragstone blocks and backed on the east with chalk.

The natural sub-soil rises steeply from under
the wall in a northerly direction but not sb steeply
towards the west. Everything above this is filling. The
lower part of the filling is gault clay with very few
"finds®, Above the geult is a mixture of soils which with
one @xception contain an assortment of "finds", Roman
fragments of tile, Tudor ware, 19th century china, hop-wire,
a King Edward VII farthing and 1l4th century tile fragments -
all scattered indiscriminately through the filling.

aALG

The exception is,beyond the northern end of
the sluice wall where nothing later than Tudor was found.
In particular a Nuremburg Token, dated 1530 by British Museum,
(see Appendix B) wedged on its edge between two positicnsd
stones 20" below D.P. 1A and 33" north, and a Seigburg pot,
(16th century) 15" below the same point and 50" north. It
is safe to conclude the wall is not later than 16th century.

It should be noted that the three Layers numbered
1I, IIZ and IIIA on the Section of this Trench appearing in
Appendix A are all very similar. It is doubtful if much
distinction should be drawn between them and it was often
impossible to distinguish between them on the site.

TRENCH IIA.

This trench has revealed the south end of the
Sluice Wall which, like its northern counterpart, is built
of large ragstone blocks with the same characteristicss 1%
has also been dated by finding another Nuremburg Token in a
position very similar to the first, i.ee 7'2" South, 2'9" easi,
and 2'7" above D,P. IIB, wedged against a positioned stone.
The rest of the finds include a Roman fragment (2'2" below
U,P,IIB), Wealden glass fragments, 16th century stoneware
fragments, nails, plaster, brick and tile fragments, teeth
and bones (animai) most of which have not been dated.

In the lower section of the clay and parallel
with LC/S were irreguler masses of “hardcore' forming an
indeterminate shape just south of the South Buttress.

Like the filling in Trench IA the bulk consists
of heavy gault clay with few "finds". Both fillings would seem
%0 have been made at the same time but that on the south side
of the stream appears %o have suffered less disturbance than on
the north where hop=anchor digging was comparatively recents o
finde definitely located in the clay have been dated.




THE EXCAVATIONS (cont) 13,
SLUICE WALL.

This Wall divides the Well Chamber from the
Lower Chamber. Its eastern face is parallel with W/E and
is 12' long to the corner at the steps. The western side
is 22' long and is parallel with LG/W. It is 4' wide
at the northern end and 5' at the southern end. In T.IA
where the bottom of the wall is displayed it is 6' high
excluding the steps at DP. IA,.

As indicated the north and south ends of the
Wall secem of the same date, workmanship and material and
the finds give the same period., The middle of the Wall has
been exposed to the elements and the destructive effects
of vegetation. Despite its appearance there Seems no reason
for giving it a different period although there are indications
in it of possible repailr or alteration,

Un the west side are two "buttiresses" each
approximately g' gguare and 5' aparts They are built of
asimilar stone but are not bonded into the Sluice Wallse On
the west side of the southern "buttress" below water level
a small post hole was found holding the point of the stake
(see Find No. II/A/II Appendix B;a%

At the southern end of the Sluice Wall and

leading down into the Well Chamber are six stone steps ,

t 6" wide at the top and 3' at the bottoms The bottom
step protrudes into the Well beyond the face of W/Ss
The rise of the top step is not exactly parallel with
the east face of W/W. e wall %W/8 is curved round to
accommodate these steps and ends in a squared faced stone only
a few inches away from SW/S - probably the best worked stone
on the site. e

The grooves for the sluice are placed on the
east side of the Sluice Wall and the channel runs not quite
at right angles through the wall to emerge between the
"buttresses, one foot from the southern and three feet from
the northern "butiress”,

Stones have been set at some time to form rough
steps to give easy access from ground level at each end down to
ghe top of the Wall. If ever the top was level and made good
with faced stone it is no longer so except at the ends which
were buried prior to thls excavation.




PART III. GENERAL COMMENTS o
(a) |DNotes concerning the measurements in the 1573 Surveys-

14,

The measurements mentioned in 1573 of "The
conduyte house or well conteyning in length XXXVI foote and
in breadith XIX fote +++" are the only old measurements
at present knowns The question arises, do they bear any
relation to the present plan of the site? The answer is

not conslusive on the facts now known but there are points
of interest and significance,.

1. If these measurements were taken of a well below
ground level they would presumably be taken inside the walls.
If they related to a "house" above ground level they might

be expected to measure the outside of the building.

- M : The present inside léngth of W/N is approximately
33, | ‘

3 The present inside length of W/E is 13' and of
W/W 12, | ’

4, If W/E is made to have an outside length of
19* go that ite middle point is midway between the two
inlets then the northern point of the wall will still lie
within a few inches of its present positions The southern
point will extend the wall some 30" and the wall does show
some such extension although excavation must be done to
see how far, ‘

. As regards W/W, a measurement of 94' from the
outside face of the squared stone above the Steps reaches
exactly to the centre of the sluice outlets A further

94* to the north reaches the top step at the north end of the
Bluice Wall but this point is in line with the middle of

W/N and seems to have no particular significance.

The evidence supplied by the two Nuremburg
Tokens undoubtedly confirms that W/W was stehding in 1973

6 It will be noticed from the Plan (appendix A)

that the squaréd stone at the top of the Steps has sides

which are not quite parallel to W/8, they incline very
slightly to the northeast. They are in fact directly in

line with the extended south end of W/E mentioned in No.4.

aboves, If & wall of two feet in thickness ever joined these
pointe there is no present evidence of it; the length of W/S 1
so far exposed does not seem to have done so and there is
insufficient information at present about the aligmment of W/S 2.



(a)

PART III (Cont) GENERAL COMMENTS, 15.

Notes concerning the measurements in the 1573 Surveys-

7 If W/S 2 originally stood approximately in
ite present position between W/S 1 and 3 it would give an
overall width to the Well of about 19'. This would be an
outside measurement which presumes a building above ground.
However, until the course, and particularly the foundation,

of W/8 2 has been traced this possibility cannot be
confirmed., '

; The most that can be said at this stage,
therefore, is that at the time of the Survey of 1573:~

W/W on the evidence of the Tokens, was standing.

W/E andW/N were most probably there, they are bonded
together,

/S 2 is a possibility which would appear to give
thie necessary width and imply a well with a
building above its



PART IIT (CONT) GENERAL CONCLUSIONS., \\\\\\
() CONCLUSIONS ,

The paueity of finds in clearly defined layer
series, caused by the frequent disturbance of the gite,
eSpeclally in recent times, has rendered the interpretation of

the evidence very difficult. The following tentative
conclusions, however, are advanced as a preliminary hypothesis:-

Period ls lgth~l3th Centurie g,
Likelys Walls W/E and W/S 1.
Possibles Wallw/N,

ﬁgge doubtful:  Wall W/W,although a west wall was probably
there, The Becket tradition with the Early English type

arches suggests this was the earliest work, which is to be
expected at the spring head itself,

Note that W/E is parallel with the east face of
W/W. The exact alignment of %/S8ILhas not been established but
it may be parallel with W/N, The main doubt aboutW/N
arises from the ledge under it which has not been accounted
for, neither has an explanation been given for the worn
passage in the floor of the Well,

Peried II, 15th Century.
Certaing W/W repaired,new watercourse from Well laid,
ead pipes from Vell laid,

Likely; SW/N and SW/S built, Well roofed over,
- Boubtful:  W/S 2 and LC/W and LG/S.

There appears to be no archaeological evidence
for items marked "certain"., The two walls 8W appear to be
parallel and similar in type but why are they at aifferent
distances from the well? If they carried a roof it was
a wide span and there is no evidence of post supports around
the Well, Was the roof carried on the Well wallg?

W/S 2 is most obscure. It has no apparent
foundation and at sometime it ¢¥arly collapsed, Ita original
position and course have yet to be determined, As brick
insertions in LC/W -suggest period III, it is assumed that
this wall was originally built at least in the previous period.
LC/S is bonded %o it and appears of similar construction,
LC/8 is also similar to SW/S but is neither joined nor aligned
to ite They may have been built at the same time but the
purpose of the Lower Chamber is not clear.
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PART III (cant) GENERAL CONCLUSIONS.

Conclusions (cont)

Period 111 Early Tudor, 1510 to 1547.
Almost certains LC/W brick repairs over outlet.
Posgsibles . W/W, sluice and "buttresses".

There were extensive additions and rebuilding .
of Palaee by Warham (¢ 1510 - 20) and repairs by Henry VIII
(1541-7) . . Dilapidations occurred in the last half of the
century. Hence the well work is assigned to period stated.

A possible solution to the problem of the sluice
and the "buttresses® has been advanced by Mre.lic Dowalls
He suggests that the Sluice Wall was built as a dam which permitted
the water to flow over it on to a small water-wheel suspended
between the two "buttresses". This wheel is presumed to
have turned a buecket chain to fill a eistern in a chamber
above. Drinking water was thus provided for the Palace,
conveyed by the "Pypes" to the "small sestrens® = perhaps
the big cistern was above the Lower Chamber. Mrelie Dowall
has ealeulated that the top of the present Sluice Wall is
aix feet above the floor in Castle House kitchens The L/C
cistern might have been six or ten feet higher to give a fall
of 12 to 16 feet at the Palaces

Could the comparatively small flow from the Well
have been enough to provide the necessary 1lift for the
bucket chain? Mr.Mc Dowall thinks it could if the wheel
and buckets were small but by rumning continuously they could
probably keep all the cisterns sufficiently supplieds

The overflow from the water wheel was the flushing
supply for the conduits under the Palace and discharged into
the Moate.

This theory explains the use of the so called
"Buttresses" and why the sluice is set to one side in the
sluice walls ‘The ledge on the South Surround Wall provided
the seatings for the floor joists but something similar has yet to
be found on the northe

It has not yet been ascertained if comparable
arrangements for supplying water exist at other palaces such
as Hampton Court. ere is as yet no evidence for such a theory,
in particular no stones have been found bearing evidence of
carrying a wheel spindle .
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GENERAL CONCLUSIONS.

Conclusions (cont)

Period 111, (cont)

It has also been suggested that the "buttresses"
were built to strengthen W/W because of the weight of the

superstructure, or because of the weight of the head of water
retained in the Well. ‘

Comparison has been drawn with SteWinefred's Well
at Holywell, where such buttresses are shown in an 18th
century print. It should, however, be noted that the
Holywell building looks much larger than Beckets Well could
nave been. However, the presence of Wealden glass in the finds
suggests a building with windows and in the 15th = 16th
centuries this often meant butiresses.

Period IV. 17th - 18th Centuries.

Possible; W/S 3. Steps adjusted to £it new walls

Although there is no posifive documentary evidence
to support repairs in this period it seems likely that some
repairs were necessary between 1603 and 1880, It is suggested
that W/S 1 or 2 collapsed and having to be rebuilt it was
foukd easiest to do this north of W/S 1 or 2.

Indirect documentary evidence (1573 Survey =- Well
Width 19') is in favour of the building of %/S 3 later than
1573. Apparently no repairs had been done before 1603

Archaeological evidence supporting the building
of W/S 3 about 1700 or later is provided by the finds of clay
pipe and wine jar base at a low level in the filling on the
south side of ¥/S.3.
Period V. 19th Century.

Pogsibles LC/E and LC/N.
This work could be attributed %o Mre.Richard Russell.
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(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

EXTRACT

St. Thomas a Becket's Well, Otford, Xent.

The present structures are not Roman, but a Homan tile
found there suggests that there were Roman buildings
(not necessarily a well-house) near the site.

The West Wall of the Western Znclosure appears to be
early 16th century, from the type of brickwork it contains.

If this brickwork is a repair, the rest of the structure
must be substantially older, but there are certainly also
repairs, and alterations in stone, of comparatively
recent date.

A mediaeval date for the enclosure and canalization is
extremely probable because, (a) it is likely to be coeval
with the Palace adjoining, (b) the masonry apart from late
alteration, is generally consistent with this, and (e¢) the
tdedication' to St. Thomas of Canterbury who was "in
disgrace"™ after the Reformation makes it pretty certain
that a well existed there in the Middle Ages.

s
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